STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENDRICK LAMONT MIMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000291

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 12 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in qualifying a sheriff as an expert witness in cocaine and cocaine valuation when the testimony did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact in issue and when the testimony's probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for trafficking cocaine, 400 or more grams under S.C. Code Ann. 44-53-0370(e)(2)(e) by a grand jury in Lexington County during the May 2013 term of Court. R. 239. The prosecution, represented by Gill Bell and Casey Rankin, called the case for trial on February 10, 2016 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. R. 1. Robert T. Williams represented Appellant. R. 1. After a two-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 276, ll. 15 – 19. Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years in prison. R. 279, ll. 15 – 20.

This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in qualifying a sheriff as an expert in cocaine valuation and permitting the sheriff to testify as to his opinion of the value of the cocaine, because the probative value of his testimony was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and his testimony did not relate to a fact in issue.

The facts giving rise to the indictment took place following a traffic stop on February 18, 2013. R. 20, ll. 14 – 15; R. 26, l. 16 – R. 28, l. 14. Corporal Adam Antley with the South Carolina Highway Patrol initiated the stop and approached the passenger side of a green F-150 truck in which Appellant was a passenger. R. 30, l. 25 – R. 31, l. 20. Antley seized a beer can from the interior of the truck and poured it out. R. 33, l. 15 – R. 34, l. 3. At that point, Antley determined that Appellant was going to receive a ticket for having an open container of beer in the vehicle. R. 34, ll. 17 – 22. Antley came to the conclusion that the driver and Appellant “were guilty”¹ because they were overly helpful during the traffic stop. R. 36, l. 19 – R. 37, l. 12. Antley performed a sobriety test on the driver and did not “observe any clues that he was under the influence at that time.” R. 38, ll. – 19.

Even though Antley could have written Appellant a ticket for the open container of beer, he was not done with his investigation. R. 39, ll. 9 – 14. Although he had seized evidence with which he could write a ticket for the open container of beer, he testified that he had probable cause to search the truck to see if there were any more open containers. R. 99, ll. 14 – 16. Even though Antley rarely frisks people on the side of the road for speeding violations, he decided to ask Appellant to get out of the vehicle in order to pat him down for weapons. R. 39, l. 19 – R. 40, l. 7;

¹ It is unclear what Antley meant when he made this claim.

R. 102, l. 23 – R. 103, l. 4. The purpose, according to Antley is twofold: safety reasons and “to further investigate crimes.” R. 40, ll. 8 – 12.

Antley testified that as Appellant stepped out of the truck, he appeared to be hunched over and holding something up in his pants. R. 42, ll. 17 – 23. Following a pat down, Antley felt a hard object in Appellant’s pants which he thought was a gun. R. 46, ll. 1 – 12. After Antley attempted to take Appellant to the ground, Appellant took off running. R. 49, ll. 17 – 22.

Antley gave chase into the woods, leading him over a barbed wire fence. R. 54, l. 10 – R. 57, l. 4. During this time, Antley attempted to subdue Appellant twice by deploying his taser. R. 54, l. 10 – R. 57, l. 4. Because these attempts were unsuccessful, Antley chased Appellant for another 100 – 200 yards and lost visual contact for 20 – 30 seconds. R. 57, l. 16 – R. 59, l. 20.

Antley then saw Appellant lean down, pull something from his groin area, and put a bag on the ground. R. 59, l. 25 – R. 60, l. 19. Antley testified that Appellant then placed leaves on top of the bag. R. 59, l. 25 – R. 60, l. 19. Appellant then surrendered to Antley. R. 60, l. 20 – R. 61, l. 7.

Antley grabbed the bag which he claimed to have seen Appellant cover with leaves and waited with Appellant until other officers arrived. R. 64, ll. 7. – 21. He described the package inside the bag as slightly larger than his hand, wrapped in black tape and cellophane. R. 64, l. 22 – R. 65, l. 4. He did not conduct a field test on the substance in the bag. R. 65, ll. 5 – 7. Antley used his pocketknife to cut through the tape and cellophane, pulled back the wrapping, and noticed white powder on the tip of his knife. R. 65, ll. 5 – 22. Antley believed the substance was powder cocaine. R. 65, l. 23 – R. 66, l. 2.

The package was placed into a BEST kit which was submitted to the evidence locker at the SCHP Lexington Office. R. 68, l. 14 – R. 69, l. 4. Sergeant Christopher Shelton was the

evidence custodian in 2013 for the South Carolina Highway Patrol. R. 151, ll. 17 – 19. He testified that other than the chemical analysis, there were no tests conducted for DNA or fingerprints. R. 166, ll. 14 – 17.

At trial, the prosecution called two expert witnesses: Lynn Black, a chemist with SLED and Lieutenant Samuel Gunter, a member of the Lexington County Sheriff's Multi-Agency Narcotics Enforcement Team (MET). R. 206, 234. Gunter, who supervised eleven agents at the time, had the primary duty of narcotics enforcement. R. 234, ll. 16 - 22. In particular, his team uses informants, buys drugs, and executes search warrants based off of their probable cause buys. R. 234, l. 23 – R. 235, l. 1. Gunter attended Northern Illinois University, and he first became employed with the Sheriff's Office in 1991. R. 235, ll. 2 – 10. He testified that he had worked approximately one thousand narcotics cases over the course of approximately thirteen years. R. 235, ll. 15 – 17; R. 236, ll. 20 – 23. Gunter explained that as a result of his participation in controlled buys, he was familiar with the typical pricing of cocaine when it is located on the street. R. 236, ll. 17 – 19. Gunter testified that he kept up with the price of cocaine on the street. R. 235, ll. 24 – R. 237, l. 8. Although he had testified in Magistrate's Court and General Sessions Court, he had never been qualified as an expert. R. 237, l. 18 – R. 238, l. 3. He did not recall testifying specifically about cocaine valuation. R. 238, ll. 13 – 21. The prosecution sought to have him qualified as an expert in cocaine and its valuation. R. 238, ll. 4 – 6.

Appellant engaged in voir dire of Gunter concerning his qualifications as an expert in cocaine valuation. Gunter admitted that he did not recall testifying in any cases specifically to cocaine valuation. R. 238, ll. 13 – 21. Appellant twice objected to the prosecutor's request to qualify Gunter as an expert in cocaine valuation. R. 202, l. 17 – R. 203, l. 9; R. 239, ll. 1 – 2.

Nevertheless, the trial judge allowed him to give opinion testimony regarding cocaine and cocaine's valuation. R. 203, ll. 12 – 14; R. 239, ll. 16 – 21.

In response to the prosecutor's questioning, Gunter opined that the value of the cocaine seized by Corporal Antley was between \$30,000 and \$35,000. R. 241, ll. 7 – 10. Gunter testified that he was unaware of the quality of the cocaine seized following the traffic stop. R. 243, l. 24 – R. 244, l. 1. In fact, he was not involved with the evidence in any degree whatsoever. R. 226, ll. 23 – 25; R. 244, ll. 23 – 25. His testimony was limited to determining the value of the cocaine based on its weight.

During his closing argument, the solicitor relied upon Gunter's testimony to undermine Appellant's argument that the cocaine did not belong to him. The solicitor argued to the jury:

So let's talk about some of the defense contentions. One is that the trooper never actually saw the bag come directly out of Mr. Mims' pants, that maybe I guess it was already on the ground. Well, you heard out expert get up here and talk about the value and he said between 30 and \$35,000. I don't know exactly where it falls in there; maybe it's a little less; maybe it's a little more. Either way you put it, that's a lot of money. How likely is it that somebody had just left that much cocaine just sitting in the middle of the woods where Mr. Mims' just happened to surrender. Very unlikely.

R. 258, ll. 10 – 20.

DISCUSSION

Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs when the admission of expert testimony is proper and supplies the bases by which an expert may be qualified to give an opinion. Specifically, the Rule provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to **understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue**, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE (emphasis added).

Thus, several criteria must be met prior to the admission of expert testimony. First, the trial court must determine that such evidence will assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue. Here, it did not. Second, the witness must be qualified as an expert due to experience or training. Third, the trial court must determine whether the proposed expert testimony satisfies a reliability threshold for the jury's ultimate consideration. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009).

The first criterion requires the trial judge to determine whether the proffered testimony, which is based upon specialized knowledge, will assist the jury in understanding evidence or determining a fact. The trial judge erred in qualifying Gunter as an expert in cocaine valuation, because the cocaine valuation was neither relevant nor a fact in issue. Appellant was indicted for trafficking cocaine under S.C. Code Ann. 44-53-0370(e)(2)(e), which provides that:

Any person who knowingly sells, manufactures, cultivates, delivers, purchases, or brings into this State, or who provides financial assistance or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to sell, manufacture, cultivate, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession or who knowingly attempts to become in actual or constructive possession of:

(2) ten grams or more of cocaine or any mixtures containing cocaine, as provided in Section 44-53-210(b)(4), is guilty of a felony which is known as "trafficking in cocaine" and, upon conviction, must be punished as follows if the quantity involved is:

(e) four hundred grams or more, a term of imprisonment of not less than twenty-five years nor more than thirty years with a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of twenty-five years, no part of which may be suspended nor probation granted, and a fine of two hundred thousand dollars;

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370.

Under that provision, the indictment likewise charged Appellant with trafficking cocaine in an amount exceeding 400 grams. R. 281. The statute is silent as to value; evidence of weight alone controls the severity of the crime. As read by the clerk following the jury's deliberations, Appellant was found guilty of the crimes listed in the indictment: trafficking in

cocaine more than 400 grams. R. 276, ll. 15 – 19. Gunter's testimony was not necessary in order to assist the jury in determining the weight of the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. Appellant did not testify, and he offered no evidence regarding ownership of the cocaine.

As a result, the probative value of Gunter's testimony in describing the value of the cocaine was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Rule 403, SCRE.

There is a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by Gunter's testimony. Gunter was called to testify regarding the value of cocaine which he never handled even though the value of cocaine was a non-issue. His irrelevant testimony characterized Appellant as a major drug dealer based on the value of the cocaine alone, when the monetary value of the drugs was irrelevant.

During closing arguments, the prosecution called for the jury to speculate based on Gunter's testimony, even though he was not involved in Appellant's case, had no knowledge of the quality of the cocaine, and did not opine whether Appellant or someone else left the cocaine in the woods. In fact, the prosecution does not elicit the testimony which it argues is relevant:

[It] would go towards evidence that this - - nobody would leave this amount of this value of cocaine in the middle of the woods, which makes it much more likely that Mr. Mims is the one who had it on him and dropped it in the woods as opposed to him just happening - - just happening to stumble across approximately \$30,000 worth of cocaine in the woods. So we do believe that sort of testimony would be proper and relevant in this case, Your Honor.

R. 203, l. 20 – R. 204, l. 3.

Gunter, as the prosecution's last witness, never offers an opinion whether Appellant would leave the valued amount of cocaine in the woods. There does not seem to be any logical relevance behind the prosecution's choice to call him as a witness. None of the evidence as discussed above, namely that "nobody would leave this amount of ... cocaine in the woods," is offered during the prosecution's case after the actual value is determined by Gunter. Without additional context, Gunter's testimony is irrelevant as to Appellant's case. The resulting prejudice stems from the notion that the jury heard about how the cocaine was valuable and likely attributed its ownership to Mims without reliable facts or evidence from Gunter. Gunter is unable to offer an opinion regarding possession, substantially lowering the probative value of his testimony. Prior to trial, he had no involvement whatsoever with the evidence in Appellant's "[A]lthough an expert's testimony theoretically is to be given no more weight by a jury than any other witness, it is an inescapable fact that jurors can have a tendency to attach more significance to the testimony of experts." State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 357, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013).

The qualification of a witness as an expert and the subsequent admission of that witness' opinion testimony are matters within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 285, 457 S.E.2d 344, 345 (1995); Manning v. City of Columbia, 297 S.C. 451, 453, 377 S.E.2d 335, 336-337 (1989); Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 530, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988). Therefore, an appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling concerning an expert witness' qualification and the admission of opinion testimony for an abuse of discretion. Strange v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 307 S.C. 161, 163, 414 S.E.2d 138, 139 (1992); Honea, 295 S.C. at 530; 369 S.E.2d at 849. "An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609

S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005); see also, Suess, 318 S.C. at 285, 457 S.E.2d at 345. If the ruling is “manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair,” then the trial court abused his discretion. Id.

The admission of Gunter’s testimony resulted in prejudicial opinions which never materialized in the form of probative evidence. His testimony was unnecessary and irrelevant; its lack of probative value likely confused the jury and certainly prejudiced Appellant.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his conviction and sentence based upon the trial court's error in admitting the sheriff's testimony as an expert in cocaine and cocaine valuation when the value of the cocaine was irrelevant and not in issue.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Taylor D Gilliam", written over a horizontal line.

Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender