ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JAN 23 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County  
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2016-000291

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Kendrick Lamont Mims,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court properly admitted Lieutenant Gunter's testimony regarding the valuation of the nearly one kilogram of cocaine Appellant stashed under leaves while trying to flee from Corporal Antley because the testimony was relevant and probative to proving the drugs were in Appellant's possession and not something placed in the location by a third party.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Corporal Antley was stationed on Interstate 20 monitoring traffic for speeding violations. (T.44-46; R. 21-23). Corporal Antley activated his radar at a Ford F150 pickup he saw travelling faster than the rest of traffic and saw the vehicle travelling 93 miles per hour in a 60 mile per hour section of highway. (T.51; R. 28). After the vehicle pulled over, Corporal Antley noticed lots of movement from the two occupants. (T.53; R. 30). Appellant was a passenger in the vehicle. (T.56; R. 33).

Appellant admitted consuming a beer, and Corporal Antley seized and poured out an open container of beer. (T.56-57; R. 33-34). After performing a field sobriety test on the driver, Corporal Antley spoke with Appellant, asking him to exit the vehicle. (T.62-63; R. 39-40). When he exited, it appeared Appellant was “holding his hands down around his pants” and “trying to hold something up in his pants.” (T.65; R. 42). Corporal Antley performed a pat down of Appellant and found a hard object inside his pants that Corporal Antley believed could have been a weapon. (T.69; R. 46). Corporal Antley asked what Appellant had in his pants and then tried to get Appellant to his knees while watching his hands. (T.69-70; R. 46-47). Appellant refused to comply. (T.70-71; R. 47-48). Instead of complying, Appellant broke free and began to run. (T.72-73; R. 49-50).

Corporal Antley pursued Appellant, who was still trying to hold on to whatever it was in his pants. (T.74; R. 51). Corporal Antley deployed his taser, but it was not effective in stopping Appellant. (T.76-77; R. 53-54). As he attempted to pursue Appellant over a fence, Corporal Antley again deployed his taser, but again it failed to stop Appellant. (T.78-79; R. 55-56).

Corporal Antley caught up to Appellant, who appeared tired from running. (T.81; R. 58). Appellant put his hands toward his groin area, pulled up to remove something, and then is seen

by Corporal Antley placing a bag on the ground. After placing the bag on the ground, he immediately covered it with some leaves. Appellant then walked toward Corporal Antley and ultimately surrendered. (T.83; R. 69).

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly admitted Lieutenant Gunter's testimony regarding the valuation of the nearly one kilogram of cocaine Appellant stashed under leaves while trying to flee from Corporal Antley because the testimony was relevant and probative to proving the drugs were in Appellant's possession and not something placed in the location by a third party.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in allowing the expert testimony of Lieutenant Gunter regarding the valuation of the nearly one kilogram of cocaine located under some leaves in the woods near where Appellant was apprehended. He maintains the testimony was not probative or relevant. Further, he contends it was unduly prejudicial in violation of Rule 403, SCRE. However, the evidence was highly probative and relevant because it disputed any argument the drugs were in the woods at that location by happenstance or that they were left by some other third party and not Appellant. Even if the testimony is found to be irrelevant or more prejudicial than probative, its admission is entirely harmless in light of the evidence in the record.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). "The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). Qualification of a witness as an expert and the subsequent admission of that witness's testimony are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265.

“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury’s verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

Rule 702, SCRE, provides: “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” “To be competent to testify as an expert, a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.” Risher v. S. C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 393 S.C. 198, 205, 712 S.E.2d 428, 432 (2011).

Pursuant to Rule 401, SCRE: “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Additionally, under Rule 402, SCRE: “All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in ‘exceptional circumstances.’ . . . If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is

when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 357-58, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593-94 (Ct. App. 2001) (internal citations omitted), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

In the instant case, Appellant’s counsel argued to the jury, and attempted to show through questioning, it was illogical for the nearly one kilogram of cocaine to have been placed in the woods by the defendant. His argument at trial centered on whether the State proved Appellant possessed the kilogram of cocaine. During opening statement, counsel argues: “You’ll hear the officer probably testify . . . that he actually sees my client burying something on the ground. Why my client would do it after all this running and after he - - he’s clearly in the vision of the officer.” (T.39; R. 16). During questioning, Appellant’s counsel argues Corporal Antley failed to preserve the pants Appellant was wearing in order to demonstrate whether he could have carried the kilogram of cocaine as described by Corporal Antley; questions whether any other officers saw the location where the package was found; and asks whether they “perform[ed] any type of DNA or any type of fingerprint analysis to determine who had had control or possession of the item?” (T.137; 145-146; R. 113; 121-122). All questions clearly intended to raise doubt regarding Appellant’s possession of the drugs. The following colloquy also involves the believability of the officer’s testimony that Appellant just tried to cover up the drugs:

- Q. So he knows you’re there. He calmly bends over and puts it on the ground and covers it up in leaves and turns around and looks at you; then he starts walking forward to you?
- A. Yes, sir. And as weird as it looks, that’s the way it looked that day.
- Q. Okay. So he’s too tried to do anything else. You, he lays -- lays down, you cuff him.

(T.140; R. 116).

Finally, in closing arguments, Appellant's counsel continues questioning the believability of Corporal Antley's version of events and raising the possibility Appellant did not possess the drugs:

But anyway, he says for whatever reason, he's as far as from me as to this wall, 20, 30 feet, my client is walking. He places the bag, he covers it up with leaves; **it's incredible. I mean it's incredible. The same guy who ran all this distance is just going to say, okay, I'm going to cover it up; you don't see me.** I'm going to cover it up with leaves and then he comes back and then he's arrested.

.....

Speaking of the bag, do you remember how it was allegedly packaged? It was a Dillard's bag, I'm sorry. This package was inside a Foot Locker bag, which was inside a Dillard's bag and all that's in my client's britches.

Well what happened to the Dillard's bag and the Foot Locker bag; I threw that away. Why did you throw that away? Why would you throw it away? Why wouldn't you just keep it? Why wouldn't you keep it to show that indeed that's what it was in; why wouldn't you take those items; **why wouldn't you fingerprint those items;** why wouldn't you do DNA? You've got two defendants that have been charged. Why wouldn't you do that to at least to **determine who had actually touched the drugs, if either one of them had?**

(T.310-312; R. 268-270) (emphasis added).

The testimony by Lieutenant Gunter was highly probative to establish the unlikelihood that the drugs belonged to anyone other than Appellant. His testimony established the drugs had a wholesale value of \$30-35,000 and a street value of nearly \$100,000. As the Solicitor argued, it is illogical a third party left something that valuable just under some leaves in the woods, and then Appellant happened to stop and be apprehended right beside cocaine with much value. Further, the value of the drugs he is carrying makes it quite likely Appellant would attempt to hide or discard the drugs, especially when he knew he was imminently going to be apprehended.

Significantly, this Court has already dealt with almost identical testimony in State v. Jamison, 372 S.C. 649, 643 S.E.2d 700 (Ct. App. 2007).<sup>1</sup> In Jamison, the defendant was charged with trafficking cocaine and trafficking crack cocaine. The drugs were found in a truck he was driving and Jamison asserted at trial the drugs belonged to someone else that used the truck. This Court specifically held: “We agree with the trial court that jurors typically do not know the current street prices of illegal drugs. Grounsell’s valuation of the drugs, based on his years of law enforcement experience, allowed the jury to better determine whether a person would reasonably leave expensive narcotics unguarded and disguised as trash in a truck allegedly used by numerous people.” Id. at 653, 643 S.E.2d at 702. This Court concluded: “If the jury did not believe Jamison’s assertion that an unknown individual left thousands of dollars worth of drugs disguised as garbage in an area where other people had access to the drugs and might even throw them away, it reinforced the State’s case that Jamison was knowingly in actual or constructive possession of the drugs at the time of his arrest, a key element of the trafficking charges.” Id.

The same rationale applies in the instant case for why the testimony was relevant and probative and not unduly prejudicial. Appellant, whether during opening statements, throughout his questioning of Corporal Antley, or in closing argument, asserted the drugs were not his and the State failed to establish possession by Appellant. In demonstrating the drugs had a value between \$30,000 and \$100,000 dollars, the State demonstrated how unlikely and illogical it is to believe the drugs were just left at that spot unguarded in the woods. The testimony by Lieutenant Gunter was clearly probative and relevant and clearly not unduly prejudicial.

---

<sup>1</sup> Interestingly, Appellant’s counsel fails to even mention the Jamison case although it is directly on point and was cited as the clear basis for the trial court’s ruling allowing the testimony. It is arguable the issue is thereby waived for review on appeal. See State v. Hicks, 387 S.C. 378, 379, 692 S.E.2d 919, 920 (2010) (affirming the ruling of the trial court because the appellant failed to appeal all grounds upon which the ruling was based); ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (unappealed ruling is law of the case).

Finally, any possible error in admitting the valuation is entirely harmless in light of the testimony in the record. See State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (holding improperly admitted evidence was harmless error given the overwhelming evidence of guilt). Corporal Antley testified he witnessed Appellant remove the bag and place it on the ground. Appellant was seen in actual possession of the cocaine. Further, Appellant does not challenge the results of the drug report indicating it is nearly a kilogram (or 1000 grams) of cocaine, amply sufficient to satisfy the requirements for trafficking in excess of 400 grams. Accordingly, even if the trial court erred in admitting the testimony it was entirely harmless in light of the record in this case.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.